FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101567-4 COA II NO. 56457-2-II COA-II NO. 56427-1-II

## WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

# JOHN WORTHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

# WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE ET AL,

Respondents.

### AMMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN WORTHINGTON  $303 \text{ S. } 5^{\text{TH}} \text{ AVE G-} 53$  SEQUIM WA.98382

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Worthington, the Appellant in the Court of Appeals matter, respectfully seeks review of said decision by the Supreme Court.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant John Worthington respectfully asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals for Division II (COA- II) decision dated October 25, 2022, and December 7, 2022.

A copy of the October 25, 2022, decision, and a copy of the December 7, 2022, decision denying petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration is in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Washington State COA- II erred failing to give effect to the plain meaning of RCW 42.56.100, and impermissibly allowed public officials to avoid the PRA if they no longer worked for the Legislature.
- 2. Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the COA- II erred by not ruling certain issues were conceded at the trial court and ruling Worthington did not cite authority in support of those assignments of error.
- 3. Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the COA-II erred by not upholding RAP 2.5 (a), RAP 10.3 (a), RAP 10.3 (b), RAP 12.1 (a), and 12.1 (b), case law doctrines in support and by not granting sanctions.

- 4. Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the COA- II erred failing to uphold the case law regarding conceding issues on appeal and failing to rule the Legislature et al conceded they did not answer all the issues related to the assignment of error.
- 5. Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(4) because the COA- II failed to uphold the public mandate of applying the PRA to the Legislature.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# 1. The PRA Requests

On or around August 28, 2018, Marijuana activist John Worthington submitted a PRA request to Senator Bob Hasegawa, his staff and the House Rules Committee and their staff. CP 319-320.

The Legislature put the PRA request on hold while the Washington courts determined whether the Legislature was subject to the PRA (*Associated Press v. Washington State Legislature et al.*) CP 326, CP 374, CP 585. Meanwhile, the Legislature sent out a "voluntary" request for records under the PRA. CP 262, CP 271, CP 283, CP 292.

On or around January 20, 2020, the legislature requested that Worthington make a new public records request. Worthington refused and requested the legislature honor the August 28, 2018, request. The

Legislature then informed its members that Worthington expected the August 28, 2018, request to be honored. CP 393, CP 573.

On or around January 14, 2020, After the Washington State
Supreme Court ruled the Washington State Legislature was subject to
the PRA in *Associated Press v. Wash. State Legislature*, 194 Wash. 2d
915 (Wash. 2019), the Legislature sent Worthington an email
requesting more time to respond because its public records procedures
were not compliant with the PRA and stated they were adjusting to
"new practices and procedures." CP 581.

On or around August 25 of 2020, the legislature responded that Senator Hasegawa no longer had his cell phone used to conduct business for the people of Washington State. CP 588. Senator Hasegawa admits in declaration number 5 that he was asked to search for texts and phone calls. CP 387.

On November 3, 2020, Worthington requested Senator

Hasegawa's phone records to prove his cell phone was destroyed or changed. The Legislature did not respond, made no claims of exemptions and silently withheld those records. CP 575.

### 2. The Trial Court Proceedings

On December 21, 2020, Worthington filed a public records lawsuit for violations of the PRA. CP 1-10. On January 11, 2021, the Washington State Legislature moved to dismiss the PRA complaint against Senator Hasegawa. CP 27-33. Worthington responded CP 239-255, CP 262-281. During the trial court briefing, Worthington provided proof Senator Hasegawa still had his cell phone. CP 248, CP 259-260, CP 280-281, CP 304-307.

On January 20, 2021, Worthington filed a motion for leave to amend. On February 2, 2021, the motion was granted. CP 86, 89-90. The 2nd amended complaint was signed and served. CP 13-25, CP 35-68, CP 93-106. On February 2, 2020, Worthington filed a motion to strike the motion to dismiss. CP 110-194. The motion was dismissed February 26, 2021. CP 303, 343.

On April 9, 2021, the trial court dismissed PRA violations against Senator Hasegawa. CP 634-635.

On August 20, 2021, Worthington filed an opening brief and a declaration with exhibits attached. CP 463-483, CP 410-440. On

September 17, 2021, The Legislature filed a brief and declarations with exhibits attached. CP 489-500. On September 27, 2021, Worthington filed a reply brief and a declaration with exhibits attached. CP 560-609.

On October 29, 2021, the trial court ruled there were no PRA violations and dismissed the case. CP 633. Worthington timely appealed. CP 635-641.

### 3. The Appeal Proceedings.

On November 8, 2021, Worthington filed an appeal. On January 28, 2022, Worthington filed his opening brief. In the Opening brief, Worthington assigned the following specific errors:

Worthington argued the trial court erred not striking the motion to dismiss because Senator Hasegawa still had the cell phone he used for legislative business. Worthington later argued the Legislature impermissibly raised the issue that Senator Hasegawa still had the phone number but not the phone for the first time on appeal.

Worthington also argued the trial court erred not finding the
Legislature et al conceded the issue when they did not address
Worthington's arguments Senator Hasegawa still had his phone at the
trial court.

Worthington also argued the trial court erred ruling the Legislature et al did not concede Worthington's PRA request started in 2019 not 2020 and that Senator Hasegawa's phone records were silently withheld in violation of the PRA under the criteria in *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 270, P.2d 592, 607 (1994) ("PAWS II").

Worthington also argued the trial court erred failing to rule the Legislature et al conceded the phone communications and phone records he sought were public records "used" by the Legislature and were "work product" subject to the PRA. Worthington cited *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015) as authority.

Worthington also argued the trial court erred ruling the

Legislature et al did not concede Worthington's PRA request

impermissibly hinged on the whim of public officials who were told

PRA compliance was voluntary. Worthington cited *Mead Sch. Dist.* 

No. 354 v. Mead Educ. Ass 'n, 85 Wn.2d 140, 145, 530 P.2d 302 (1975).

Worthington also argued the trial court erred ruling the Legislature et al did not concede the onus was on them to submit "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits" that the legislator or aide searched their files, devices, and accounts and that Legislature et al violated RCW 42.56.100. Worthington cited *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015) as authority.

Worthington also argued the trial court erred ruling the

Legislature et al did not concede it was impossible for the Legislature
to have conducted an adequate search when they did not ask specific
legislators and aides for records and rendered RCW 42.56.100 useless.

Worthington cited authority in *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane*County v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 721, 261 P.3d 119

(2011) which held that "failure to perform an adequate search
precludes an adequate response and production [and is] comparable to
a denial because the result is the same." Id., (emphasis added).

Worthington argued that determining an "adequate response and
production" per *Neighborhood Alliance* required that a court consider

the PRA "in its entirety" (see Rental Hous., supra), including RCW 42.56.100.

Worthington also argued "Courts may not interpret a statute in a way that renders a portion meaningless or superfluous," Citing *Cent.*Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. WR-SRI 120th N. LLC, 191 Wn.2d 223, P.3d 891 (2018).

Worthington also argued the trial court erred by adding words and meanings to the PRA, rendering RCW 42.56.100, RCW 42.56.030 meaningless and superfluous, leading to an absurd result. Worthington cited authority in *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723,727,63 P.3d 792 (2003), *Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Riveland*, 138 Wn.2d 9,19,978 P.2d 481 (1999), *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P. ld 318 (2003), *Dot Foods, Inc. v. Washington Dept. of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 912,920,215 P.3d 185 (2009) and *Densley v. Dep't. of Retirement Sys.*, 162 Wn.2d 210,221, 173 P.3d 885 (2007).

Worthington also argued the trial court erred letting the search be up to the legislature or their aides. Worthington argued that in doing so, the trial court allowed the legislature to get away with a textbook definition of a perfunctory search for records and allowed the Legislature to skirt the intent of *Hobbs v. State* or *Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*.

Worthington also argued the trial court also erred ruling the Legislature could be excused from compliance with the PRA because several public officials and aides stopped working at the legislature. Worthington argued that without at least asking for those records the Legislature had no chance of complying with the intent of *Hobbs*, and that the trial court erred when it ruled otherwise.

Worthington argued that without compliance with *Nissen* and without direct affidavit's the trial court could not rely on third party hearsay to invoke the criteria in *Faulkner v. Dep't of Corrections*.

Worthington also argued the legislature conceded the hearsay argument in the opening brief, and the trial court erred when it did not accept that concession to Worthington's argument. Worthington also argued that ER 802 did not allow the trial court to consider third party out of court hearsay evidence, and that the trial court erred when it ruled otherwise. Worthington also argued he effectively impeached the credibility of Senator Hasegawa under ER 807, ER 806

Worthington argued all the issues above were conceded at the trial court because they were not addressed. Worthington cited, *Yakima County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 146 Wn. App. 679, 698, 192 P.3d 12 (2008) ("A party abandons an issue by failing to brief the Issue," ellipsis added), *Olson v. Silverling*, 52 Wn. App. 221, 230, 758 P.2d 991 (1988) (citing *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434,440,656 P.2d 1030 (1982) and RAP 2.5 (a) and 9.12). See also *Adams v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 128 Wn.2d 224, 228-229, 905 P.2d 1220 (1995).

Worthington also argued the Legislature et al is barred by the RAP rules and case law from addressing the issues for the first time on appeal.

On October 25, 2022, the Court of Appeals for Division II filed an unpublished opinion in which the court denied the appeal.

On October 28, 2022, Worthington filed a Motion to Reconsider alleging the Washington State Legislature et al did not properly answer all the issues identified in the assignments of error.

Worthington also alleged the decision violated RAP 2.5 (a), RAP 10.3 (a), RAP 10.3 (b), RAP 12.1 (a), and 12.1 (b).

On November 21, 2022, the Legislature et al responded to the Motion to Reconsider and argued their counterstatement argued phone records issues and that they only had to respond to the assignments of error not the issues.

On November 23, 2022, Worthington filed a reply arguing the Legislature's table of contents showed they addressed only the email records and that the Legislature conceded they violated RAP 10.3(b).

On December 7, 2022, the COA- II denied the Motion to Reconsider.

# E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. Review Should Be Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (1), RAP 13.4 (b) (2) and RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

Worthington respectfully argues the Supreme Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (1) RAP 13.4 (b) (2) and RAP 13.4 (b)(4) because: (1) the COA- II decision conflicts with decisions of this Court (2) the COA- II decision conflicts with decisions of the

COA- II and (3) it is of great public importance to apply the public records laws after the public outcry which influenced Governor Inslee to veto the Legislature's attempts to exempt themselves from the PRA.

In this PRA case, it is undisputed at the trial court and on appeal, that eleven public officials working for the Washington State Legislature were never asked for any public records after they were requested by Worthington. This PRA case should have resulted in a public records violation at the trial court based on that fact alone, because the Legislature's "optional" PRA policy made it impossible to comply with RCW 42.56.100.

Review should be accepted because the trial court and the COA- II refused to give effect to the plain meaning of the text of RCW 42.56.100. RCW 42.56.100 does not excuse a public official from responding to PRA requests if that public official no longer works for government. The COA II panel also erred failing to rule the Legislature et al failed provide fullest assistance to the requester, and failed to preserve public records.

Furthermore, review should also be accepted because the COA-II refused to unforce the PRA case law doctrine of *Nissen* which required "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits" attesting to the nature and extent of a search for public records.

Worthington also respectfully argues review should be accepted because the Thurston County Superior court and the COA- II erred by: (1) failing to uphold other long-standing case law doctrines and (2) failing to follow Washington State Rules of Appellate Procedure.

# 2. Review Should be Accepted Because the COA- II Failed to Give Effect to the Plain Meaning of RCW 42.56.100.

The Washington State Legislature alleged they postponed the request until the Washington State Supreme Court ruling in *Associated Press v. Wash. State Legislature*, 194 Wash. 2d 915 (Wash. 2019).

However, after the request was made, the legislature did make some inquiries for records but the public records officer made responding to the request "optional." That optional PRA policy made it impossible to comply with RCW 42.56.100.<sup>1</sup>

Furthermore, the Legislature's PRA policy was so "optional" that eleven public officials working for the Washington State

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Nothing in this section shall relieve agencies, the office of the secretary of the senate, and the office of the chief clerk of the house of representatives from honoring requests received by mail for copies of identifiable public records."

Legislature were never asked for email or phone records after they were requested by Worthington.<sup>2</sup> That is a clear PRA violation if the trial court and COA II would have given effect to the plain meaning of RCW42.56.100.

The limited group of public employees that were asked for records were given the option to respond "voluntarily" and they were never required to provide "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits" attesting to the nature and extent of their search.

This failure to abide by the text of the RCW 42.56.100, and the case law doctrines established in *Resident Action Council*, *Hobbs*, *Faulkner*, *Nissen* and the *Associated Press v. Washington State*Legislature, led to a total of 16 specific undisputed PRA violations.

These specific alleged violations which had not been specifically disputed at trial or on appeal are now conceded along with other issues brought up in the issues pertaining to the assignments of error.

asked for emails or phone records.

14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Raised in the adequate search response: Despite the fact Worthington listed the wrong committee for the year in which the request was intended, four House of Representatives and at least four House legislative aides were still assigned to the House Rules Committee for which the request was intended. Three other Senate legislative aides working for Senator Hasegawa were also not

The Supreme Court need read no further. This case should have been over at the trial court and should not be on appeal. It is just not believable that after the decision in *Associated Press v*.

Washington State Legislature, that the PRA allows a public official to be excused from the text of the PRA and the case law in *Nissen*. The rulings in this case make the PRA judicial process look fixed or worse jaded against Worthington.

# 3. Review Should be Accepted Because the COA- II Erred by Ignoring Case Law and allowed RAP Violations.

In his opening brief, Worthington brought up nine issues related to his assignment of error. The nature of Worthington's claims of error were clearly disclosed in the issues related to the assignment of error. There could be no doubt Worthington sought review of the following specific issues arguing: (1) the Legislature et al conceded that the trial court impermissibly ruled the PRA request started in 2020 (2) The legislature et al conceded the trial court impermissibly added words and meanings to the PRA and rendering RCW 42.56.030 and RCW 42.56.100 meaningless and superfluous, leading to an absurd result. (3) The Legislature et al conceded that the trial court

impermissibly used hearsay evidence (4) The Legislature et al conceded that cell phone logs would have been a "any form" of communications or records, which is what Worthington requested.

Worthington also clearly alleged: (1) The Legislature et al have admitted they did not conduct an adequate search and violated Nissen. (2) The Legislature et al admitted they had a voluntary public records policy and had to change practices and procedures after the ruling in *Associated Press*. (3) The Legislature et al conceded that the trial court impermissibly ruled the PRA did not apply to public servants who no longer worked for the legislature. (4) The Legislature et al conceded Worthington's request was impermissibly at the whim of the public servant. (5). The Legislature et al conceded they made a perfunctory search for records and did not comply with *Hobbs*.

The Legislature responded by first arguing there was only "one salient issue" whether adequate search was performed in response to Mr. Worthington's 2018 request to locate an email communication originating at 5:34 p.m. on February 26, 2016.

The Legislature et al then proceeded to ignore most of the nine issues raised in the issues pertaining to the assignments of error.

Essentially, the Legislature tried to address issues raised at the trial court with issues that were not. (1) There was only "one salient issue" whether the request was just for an email on a specific day and time, (2) Worthington did not "authenticate evidence," and (3)

Worthington's request was "cloaked" and caused "incongruity")

After the COA II ruling on October 25, 2022, Worthington filed a Motion to Reconsider arguing the decision violated RAP 2.5 (a) because it allowed new issues on appeal. Worthington cited *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 139 Wn. App. 334, 338, 160 P.3d 1089 (2007) and *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983). "The reason for this rule is to afford the trial court an opportunity to correct any error, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials." That issue and the case law in support of it were not addressed by the respondent or the COA-II.

Worthington also argued the ruling violated RAP 10.3 (a), RAP 10.3 (b). Worthington argued he assigned and "framed' at least 11 errors by the trial court and that the Legislature et al could not

possibly address all the assignments of error by bringing up the four new arguments on appeal. Worthington argued the Court of Appeals ruling failed to give effect to the plain language of that RAP Rule RAP 10.3 (a), RAP 10.3 (b). Worthington cited *State v. Otton* which held. "We interpret court rules the same way we interpret statutes giving effect to the plain language." That issue and the case law in support of it were not addressed by the respondent or the COA- II.

Worthington also argued the ruling violated RAP 10.7, when the appellate court did not sanction the Legislature et al pursuant to RAP 10.7 for violating RAP 10.3 (b). Worthington argued the COA-II failed to uphold its own decision in *Mulder v. Cabinet Distribs.*, *Inc.* No. 45667-2-II (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 10, 2015) (*citing Iverson v. Snohomish County*, 117 Wn. App. 618, 624, 72 P.3d 772 (2003). Worthington argued for sanctions under RAP 10.7 and RAP 18.9. (a).

The COA-II ruling denying sanctions was made quickly and without explanation.

Worthington also argued the ruling violated RAP 12.1 (a), (12.1 (b) because the decision violated the RAP language that the appellate court would decide a case only on the basis of issues set forth by the

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