FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/26/2023 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101567-4

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### JOHN WORTHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE, et al.

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JENNIFER STEELE, WSBA #36751 Public Records Counsel Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2106 Attorneys for Respondents

#### **

II.	ISSUES PRESENTED
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
V.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 9
	A. The Court of Appeals Opinion is Consistent with Supreme Court and Published Court of Appeals Decisions
	B. This Case Does Not Present Any Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court
VI.	CONCLUSION

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### <u>Cases</u>

Associated Press v. Washington State Legislature, 194 Wn.2d 915, 454 P.3d 93 (2019)
Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 218 P.3d 196 (2009)11
Block v. City of Gold Bar, 189 Wn. App. 262, 355 P.3d 266 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1037 (2016)
Dep't of Corr. v. Barstad,         191 Wn. App. 1003 (2015) (unpublished)
Faulkner v. Dep't of Corrections, 183 Wn. App. 93, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014)11
Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)
Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014)
Kozol v. Dep't of Corrections, 192 Wn. App. 1, 366 P.3d 933 (2015)14
Silva v. King County, 200 Wn. App. 1059, 2017 WL 4354604 (2017) (unpublished)
Worthington v. Washington State Legislature, No. 56427-1-II, 2022 WL 14309315 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2022)

Zink v. City of Mesa, 162 Wn. App. 688, 256 P.3d 384, 400 (2011)11
Rules
CR 12(b)(6)
RAP 13.4(b)9

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the Public Records Act (PRA) is to provide requesters access to information about the operation of government. While Mr. Worthington presents a handful of winding issues, this case actually presents two narrow and straightforward issues of law. First, whether there is a cause of action under the PRA for not producing a record that does not exist. This issue has been previously answered by the courts: there is no cause of action under the PRA for not producing a record that does not exist. The Court of Appeals correctly followed this established precedent in dismissing part of Mr. Worthington's claim. The second issue is a fact-specific issue regarding whether an adequate search was performed in response to Mr. Worthington's 2018 request to locate an email communication originating at 5:34 p.m. on February 26, 2016, with Joy Beckerman and certain identified members of the Legislature and their aides. There is substantial precedent regarding adequacy-of-the-search and the inquiry is highly fact

specific. The Court of Appeals followed this law and determined that the detailed evidence established that adequate searches were performed and no such record was located.

The previously issued decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter fully comports with this Court's precedent and with Court of Appeals precedent. Accordingly, Worthington's Petition for Review should be denied.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Whether there is a cause of action under the PRA for not producing a record that does not exist.
- 2) Whether an adequate search was performed in response to Mr. Worthington's 2018 request for a specific email.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 27, 2018, various members of the Washington State Legislature received an email from John Worthington titled "PRA REQUEST." The email stated in its entirety:

Please provide all communications of any form with Joy Beckerman from on [sic] February 26, 2016 5:34 pm, with Senator Hasegawa and his aides and the other members of the House Rules Committee and

their legislative aides in 2016, to the list shown below.

All communications would include any personal emails from personal or unknown email accounts and personal phone calls from personal phones and unknown phones.

The list of legislators on this request is as follows:

Chopp, Frank (D)

Chair

Kristiansen, Dan (R)

Ranking Minority Member

Kretz, Joel (R)

**Asst Ranking Minority Member** 

Bergquist, Steve (D)

Haler, Larry (R)

Hargrove, Mark (R)

Harmsworth, Mark (R)

Holy, Jeff (R)

Johnson, Norm (R)

Kraft, Vicki (R)

Lovick, John (D)

McBride, Joan (D)

McDonald, Joyce (R)

Ortiz-Self, Lillian (D)

Orwall, Tina (D)

Pettigrew, Eric (D)

Riccelli, Marcus (D)

Senn, Tana (D)

Springer, Larry (D)

Stanford, Derek (D)

Sullivan, Pat (D)

Tarleton, Gael (D)

Van Werven, Luanne (R)

Wilcox, J.T. (R)

Wylie, Sharon (D)

CP 506-507. Mr. Worthington's public records request mentioned the 2016 House Rules committee but specifically listed the members he sought records from: "[t]he list of legislators on this request is as follows." CP 506-507. However, the list of names he provided was *not* the list of individuals on the 2016 House Rules committee. *See* CP 519, 524, CP 554-556.

The House and the Senate each acknowledged Plaintiff's request and informed him that there was ongoing litigation regarding whether the Legislature was fully subject to the Public Records Act. CP 509-11, 526-35. The House and Senate explained that potentially responsive records would be retained until that litigation was complete and the Supreme Court provided direction. CP 509-511, 526-35.

Following the Supreme Court's *Associated Press v. Washington State Legislature*, 194 Wn.2d 915, 922, 454 P.3d 93 (2019), decision in December 2019, on January 14, 2020, the Senate wrote to Mr. Worthington and inquired if he still desired the records he had requested. CP 595-96. The Senate asked

Mr. Worthington to submit a new request if he still wanted the records. CP 595-96. Mr. Worthington replied that he wanted the records but refused to submit a new request. CP 574. Both the Senate and House began working on the request. CP 582-83.

The Senate sent search notices to the named individuals and aides in 2018 and again in 2020. CP 503, 513-17. The House sent search notices in 2018 and again in 2020 to the vast majority of members named in the request and the 2016 aides to those members, but excluded members and aides who no longer worked for the Legislature. CP 520-22, 537-8, 544-48.

The House also sought clarification from Mr. Worthington regarding his request. Mr. Worthington provided several responses to the House's request for clarification. CP 526-35, 541-42, 550-52. In these responses, Mr. Worthington stated that he was requesting an email record sent on an exact day and time. CP 526-35, 541-42, 550-52.

The House and Senate records officers conducted searches of the email, calendar, and voicemail systems. CP 503-4, 519-22.

Randi Stratton, the public records officer for the Senate, searched the emails, calendars, and voicemails of Senator Hasegawa and of his two legislative aides during the 2016 legislative session. CP 503-4. Samina Mays, the public records officer for the House, searched the emails, calendars, voicemails, and text messages on legislative cell phones, for all of the members whom Mr. Worthington listed in his public records request. CP 519-22. Neither the House nor the Senate issued cell phones to the legislative aides in 2016. CP 504, 523.

The records produced to Mr. Worthington from the Senate included email communications from Joy Beckerman. CP 504. However, there was no record showing or evidencing a communication with Joy Beckerman on February 26, 2016 at 5:34 p.m. as per Mr. Worthington's request. CP 504.

The records produced to Mr. Worthington from the House records included emails from Joy Beckerman to various members and aides on the following dates and times: February 26, 2016, 2:47 p.m.; March 29, 2016, 1:12 p.m. CP 524.

However, there was no record showing or evidencing a communication with Joy Beckerman on February 26, 2016 at 5:34 p.m. CP 524.

Mr. Worthington filed this lawsuit alleging that Defendants silently withheld records and destroyed public records before the request was resolved. CP 13-23, 93-107.

Mr. Worthington's Second Amended Complaint (Complaint) asserted that Defendants violated the PRA by failing to produce a record or records related to Senator Hasegawa's telephone records. CP 93-107. But the Complaint also established that Senator Hasegawa's telephone records from 2016 no longer existed in 2018 when the request was made. CP 93-107. Defendants filed a CR 12(b)(6) partial motion to dismiss on the grounds that there is no cause of action under the PRA for failing to produce a record that does not exist. CP 27-34. Following review of the filed pleadings and argument, the trial court dismissed the cause of action related to Senator Hasegawa's telephone records. CP 634-635.

Following the partial dismissal, the trial court conducted merits hearings on affidavit for the remaining causes of action. Following review of all the briefing and arguments, the trial court entered detailed findings and concluded that the Defendants conducted adequate searches that complied with the PRA. CP 631-33. The trial court concluded there was no PRA violation and dismissed the action. CP 631-33. Mr. Worthington appealed.

#### IV. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division Two of the Court of Appeals summarized: "Worthington appeals the trial court's orders dismissing his claims, arguing (1) the trial court erred by dismissing his claim regarding the destruction of records because Senator Hasegawa was still using the phone he used in 2016; and (2) the trial court erred by dismissing the remainder of his PRA claims because the Legislative Defendants did not show that their searches were adequate." *Worthington v. Washington State Legislature*, No. 56427-1-II, 2022 WL 14309315, at \*1 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2022).

After addressing each of Mr. Worthington's arguments,
Division Two affirmed the trial court decision dismissing
Worthington's complaint in an unpublished opinion. A copy of
the Opinion is attached as Appendix A.

#### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The petition currently before the Court does not present valid grounds for review as required by RAP 13.4(b). Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for discretionary review will be accepted only (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; ... or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Worthington relies upon the first, second, and fourth of these criteria in his petition for review. Petition at 1-2. However, Mr. Worthington is incorrect. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any Supreme Court

nor published Court of Appeals decision. There is also no substantial public interest. Mr. Worthington attempts to make this basic PRA lawsuit into something that it is not. This lawsuit is a basic PRA adequacy-of-the-search case, in which the trial court and Court of Appeals applied the established facts to existing law and made a sound decision that Mr. Worthington simply is unhappy with.

## A. The Court of Appeals Opinion is Consistent with Supreme Court and Published Court of Appeals Decisions

As the Court of Appeals correctly indicated, Mr. Worthington failed to establish that there was any error in dismissing his claim regarding destruction of records and the remainder of his claims because the Legislative Defendants performed adequate searches. *Worthington v. Washington State Legislature*, No. 56427-1-II, 2022 WL 14309315, at \*8 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2022).

Division II followed established PRA precedent that an agency has no duty under the PRA to produce a record that does

not exist at the time of a public record request. See Faulkner v. Dep't of Corrections, 183 Wn. App. 93, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014); Zink v. City of Mesa, 162 Wn. App. 688, 718, 256 P.3d 384, 400 (2011) (finding no PRA violation regarding City's failure to produce meeting minutes that did not exist at the time of the public records request); Silva v. King County, 200 Wn. App. 1059, 2017 WL 4354604 (2017) (unpublished). Without a duty, there is no agency action to review. Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 93. "[T]here is 'no agency action to review under the [PRA]' where the agency did not deny the requestor an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record, because the public record he sought 'did not exist.'" Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 740, 218 P.3d 196 (2009); Faulkner, 183 at 93; see also Dep't of Corr. v. Barstad, 191 Wn. App. 1003 (2015) (unpublished) (holding that the record did not exist at the time of the request and the destruction of a record prior to a PRA request is not actionable under the PRA).

Here, there is no cause of action under the PRA because as pleaded in the complaint the record did not exist. The Senate informed Mr. Worthington that the record he sought did not exist. CP 99. The Senate explained that the email was searched and no record was found. CP 98-99. The Senate explained that the personal cellular device was no longer in existence, and that any records on it were no longer in existence. CP 99. The Senate went above and beyond and even provided Mr. Worthington with a declaration by Senator Hagasawa regarding the record's nonexistence. CP 99. The Senate clearly informed Mr. Worthington that it was not withholding a record or denying a record. CP 99. Rather, the Senate informed Mr. Worthington that there was simply no record for the Senate to produce. CP 99.

Division II followed settled PRA precedent when it dismissed Mr. Worthington's cause of action related to alleged destruction of public records.

Worthington makes several arguments challenging the court's determination that the Legislature's search was adequate.

First, Mr. Worthington alleges that the search could not have been adequate when initially, during the pendency of Associated Press ν. Washington State Legislature, 194 Wn.2d 915, 922, 454 P.3d 93 (2019), the House stated it would provide Worthington with records that members voluntarily provided. However, Mr. Worthington ignores the fact that all records were being retained during the pendency of the Associated Press litigation (nothing was being deleted/destroyed), CP 509-511, 526-35, and following this Court's decision, the Legislature conducted a full search of those retained records.

PRA case law is also flush with consistent adequacy-of-the-search cases. The PRA requires an agency to conduct a reasonable search for records that are responsive to a request, and to provide the requestor with those records that the agency finds in its search. *Block v. City of Gold Bar*, 189 Wn. App. 262, 270–72, 355 P.3d 266 (2015), *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1037 (2016). The adequacy of a records search is "judged by a standard of

reasonableness, that is, the search must be reasonably calculated uncover all relevant documents." Hobbs v. to 183 Wn. App. 925, 943, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) (quoting *Forbes* v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 866, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). Agencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search; the search "should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested." *Block*, 189 Wn. App. at 271 (quoting *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 719). But at the same time, a reasonable search need not be exhaustive. Kozol v. Dep't of Corrections, 192 Wn. App. 1, 8, 366 P.3d 933 (2015). The focal point of the judicial inquiry is the agency's search process, not the outcome of its search. *Id.* (quoting *Forbes*, 171 Wn. App. at 866). The issue is not whether any further documents might conceivably exist, but whether the search was adequate. *Id.* (quoting Forbes, 171 Wn. App. at 866).

As these cases establish, an adequacy of the search determination is highly fact specific. Division II followed the

established law and the prolific facts in the record regarding the Legislature's search to correctly determine that an adequate search was performed.

Mr. Worthington raises numerous other claims in his petition, but all are based on a misunderstanding of the record below. As the Court of Appeals found, there was ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusion that the Legislature had conducted a reasonable search. There is no basis for this Court's review.

# B. This Case Does Not Present Any Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court

Mr. Worthington asserts that in handling his request the Legislature considered compliance with the PRA "optional." Petition at 22. Mr. Worthington is incorrect. The uncontroverted evidence establishes that the Legislature retained records until that litigation was complete and the Supreme Court provided direction. CP 509-511, 526-35. From the time of Mr. Worthington's request in 2018 and to the present, there has

been an electronic hold on all Legislative emails that prevents deletion of any emails. CP 503, 519. Thus, any emails in existence at the time of the request in 2018 were preserved and in existence at the time of the search in 2020.

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